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WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 
2009 MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE, NW 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20036 
(202) 588-0302 

 
 
 
 
      November 15, 2006 
 
By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas Abrams, RPh, MBA 
Director  
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re: NDA # 21-862 
 Nevanac™ (nepafenac opthalmic suspension) 0.1% 
 MACMIS ID # 14150 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On October 20, 2006, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent a warning letter to Alcon, Inc. (Alcon) alleging that a professional sales aid 
(NPF06500VS) for Nevanac™ (nepafenac opthalmic suspension) 0.1% is false or misleading 
and therefore “misbrands the drug in violation of” 21 U.S.C. §§ 352(a) and 321(n).  For the 
reasons discussed below, WLF requests that DDMAC withdraw the letter and initiate a 
comprehensive review of its policies and procedures governing prescription drug promotion.   
 
Background 
 
WLF launched a new program on June 21, 2005, called “DDMAC Watch.”  Under the program, 
WLF monitors the warning and untitled letters issued by DDMAC and the Office of Compliance 
and Biologics Quality (OCBQ).  Where letters raise substantial legal or policy issues, WLF 
identifies those issues in correspondence back to the agency.  As the letters issued since the 
program’s inception make clear, DDMAC has established policies and procedures that, although 
not publicly articulated, obviously animate day to day oversight in the area. 
 
We have consistently requested that DDMAC undertake a systematic review of policies and 
procedures relating to the promotion of prescription drugs.  As yet, we have received no response 
to this request.  Nor have we detected any change in DDMAC’s approach to the regulation of 
prescription drug promotion.  DDMAC’s practices directly affect the ability of pharmaceutical 
manufacturers and marketers who represent a vital part of the nation’s health care system to 
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provide accurate information to health care practitioners and patients.  DDMAC’s actions 
therefore have a substantial impact on the public’s health.  For these reasons, and for the legal 
and policy reasons outlined below, we ask that you withdraw the warning letter to Alcon and 
commence immediately the systematic analysis described above.  
 
Improper Reliance on “Regulatory History” 
 
DDMAC attempts to characterize Alcon as a bad actor by referring to an April 27, 2005 warning 
letter sent to Alcon Laboratories, Inc., which is an Alcon subsidiary.  DDMAC also cites a 
September 22, 2005 untitled letter to Alcon Research Ltd., an Alcon affiliate.  Neither letter 
involved Nevanac. 
 
These previous communications involve two different subsidiaries of Alcon.  Furthermore, one 
of the letters was an untitled letter, which means the alleged violation by definition was not of 
regulatory significance.  FDA, Regulatory Procedures Manual § 4.2.1 (Mar. 2006) 
(http://www.fda.gov/ora/compliance_ref/rpm/pdf/ch4.pdf).  Moreover, the previous letters are 
more than a year old, and related to products other than Nevanac.  Reliance on this past 
correspondence implies that Alcon is a repeat offender when, in fact, these earlier allegations are 
irrelevant and outdated. 
 
WLF asks DDMAC to avoid attributing to a particular company actions alleged to have been 
taken by another entity, and to be mindful of the consequences the classification as a repeat 
offender—however unjustified—can have in products liability cases. 
 
Unsubstantiated Allegations of Misleadingness 
 
In several places, DDMAC posits unsubstantiated interpretations of the professional sales aid for 
Nevanac.  For example, DDMAC interprets the statement, “Administration of nepafenac 0.1% 
suspension leads to significant suppression of the PGE2 synthesis in the posterior portion of the 
eye,” to mean that the drug is effective for treating ocular conditions involving the posterior 
portion of the eye, including specifically macular edema.  Similarly, DDMAC contends that a 
reference to post-operative pain and inflammation control constitutes an implied claim of 
efficacy in all eye surgeries. 
 
The only apparent basis for DDMAC’s allegations is the individual judgment of the DDMAC 
personnel involved in preparing and reviewing the warning letter.  DDMAC’s action is an 
example of the worst kind of “we know it when we see it” regulation, tethered to no legitimately 
established legal authority and impossible for regulated firms to anticipate.  This is inconsistent 
with the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), which provides for judicial invalidation of agency 
action that is “in excess of statutory jurisdiction,” arbitrary, or capricious.  5 U.S.C. § 706; see 
also Pearson v. Shalala, 164 F.3d 650, 660 (D.C. Cir.), reh’g denied, 172 F.3d 72 (D.C. Cir. 
1999) (“To refuse to define the criteria [FDA] . . .  is applying is equivalent to simply saying no 
without explanation.”). 
 
The APA also provides for invalidation of agency action that is “contrary to constitutional right.”  
5 U.S.C. § 706.  It is beyond dispute that the professional sales aid constitutes protected speech.  
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Washington Legal Found. v. Friedman, 13 F. Supp. 2d 51, 62 (D.D.C. 1998) (citing Keyishian v. 
Board of Regents, 385 U.S. 589, 603 (1967), and Board of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior 
University v. Sullivan, 773 F. Supp. 472, 474 (D.D.C. 1991)), appeal dism’d, 202 F.3d 331 (D.C. 
Cir. 2000).  Accordingly, the government bears the burden of justifying any restrictions it seeks 
to impose on that speech.  Edenfield v. Fane, 507 U.S. 761, 770-771 (1993)   (“It is well 
established that the party seeking to uphold a restriction on commercial speech carries the burden 
of justifying it.  This burden is not satisfied by mere speculation or conjecture; rather, a 
governmental body seeking to sustain a restriction on commercial speech must demonstrate that 
the harms it recites are real and that its restriction will in fact alleviate them to a material 
degree.”) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  To fulfill its constitutional obligation, 
DDMAC must do more than simply declare that the manner in which Alcon has described 
Nevanac is misleading.  See Pearson v. Shalala, 164 F.3d 650, 659 (D.C. Cir.) (citations and 
footnote omitted), reh’g denied, 172 F.3d 72 (D.C. Cir. 1999).  Because that is all that DDMAC 
has seen fit to do, the warning letter cannot be reconciled with the First Amendment. 
 
Untenable Approach to Animal Data 
 
In at least four places, DDMAC objects to statements in the professional sales aid on the ground 
that they lack adequate substantiation.  For example, DDMAC objects to Alcon’s citation of 
preclinical data to support statements regarding the effectiveness and safety of Nevanac.  
DDMAC’s approach is objectionable for two reasons.   
 
First, FDA has recognized that animal data can be clinically relevant.  FDA requires 
manufacturers to include animal data in their premarket submissions, 21 C.F.R. § 314.50, and 
FDA regulations provide for the presentation of animal data in safety and efficacy-related 
sections of the package insert.  21 C.F.R. § 201.57(b)(1), (f)(5), (f)(6)(i)(a)-(e).  Yet nowhere 
does DDMAC explain its conclusion that the data cited in the professional sales aid are not 
relevant to human use of Nevanac. 
 
Second, Alcon has a First Amendment right to disseminate information about preclinical 
investigations.  It is a bedrock of First Amendment law that the government may not ban speech 
based on its potential to mislead, if the speech is presented in a manner that is truthful and non-
misleading.  The most obvious way for DDMAC to comply with this principle would be to allow 
sponsors to make promotional claims based on preclinical investigations and on other sources of 
data and information so long as those claims are presented with any necessary disclaimers.  
Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm’n, 447 U.S. 557, 565 (1980) (“The 
State cannot regulate speech that poses no danger to the asserted state interest, nor can it 
completely suppress information when narrower restrictions on expression would serve its 
interest as well.”); Bates v. State Bar, 433 U.S. 350, 375 (1977) (“the preferred remedy is more 
disclosure, rather than less”).  Here, that is precisely what Alcon has done. 
 
We have previously objected to DDMAC and OCBQ’s issuance of warning and untitled letters 
stating that companies may not use clinical investigations or other sources of information in 
promotional materials unless DDMAC or OCBQ has determined that these sources are 
satisfactory.  DDMAC clearly has an established practice and policy of banning any statements, 
even if truthful and non-misleading, that are based on sources that DDMAC deems inadequate. 
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Untenable Allegations of Omission of Risk Information 
 
Alcon, in its sales aid, includes information regarding the contraindication and most common 
and less severe adverse effects.  Nonetheless, DDMAC insists that the sales aid is misleading 
because Alcon did not disclose other risk information appearing in the package insert. 
 
The statutory provisions cited by DDMAC, 21 U.S.C. §§ 352(a) and 321(n), provide that drug 
labeling can be misleading if it fails to reveal facts that are material in light of the consequences 
of using the drug.  Although FDA’s drug labeling regulations elucidate some of the 
circumstances in which labeling may be misleading (e.g., 21 C.F.R. § 201.6), they do not explain 
how a manufacturer should disclose risk information in promotional labeling to satisfy the 
statutory standard.  Nor has FDA provided guidance to manufacturers in this area. 
 
Rather than communicating its expectations about the presentation of risk information in 
promotional pieces case by case through the issuance of warning and untitled letters, DDMAC 
should provide concrete guidance to industry on this issue.  DDMAC should immediately issue 
for public comment the long-awaited draft guidance on achieving fair balance in promotional 
materials.  The agency, DDMAC, industry, and the public health would be better served by a 
systematic approach in which all stakeholders have a meaningful opportunity to participate in the 
development of regulatory norms. 
 
No Authority to Seek Corrective Promotion 
 
DDMAC’s request that Alcon disseminate “corrective” promotional messages is unauthorized by 
statute, unconstitutional, and imprudent.  As WLF previously advised you in at least twelve 
previous letters, DDMAC’s authority to require corrective advertising is, at best, unclear.  The 
specific listing of enforcement actions appearing in the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act 
conspicuously omits any authority for DDMAC (or any other FDA component) to request or 
require that a firm disseminate “corrective” promotional messages to anyone.  21 U.S.C. § 331 et 
seq.  Moreover, a requirement that a company disseminate information—with which it might 
disagree—about one of its own products on behalf of the government presents potentially grave 
First Amendment issues.  See, e.g., International Dairy Foods Ass'n v. Amestoy, 92 F.3d 67 (2d 
Cir. 1996). 
 
My testimony at DDMAC’s Part 15 hearing on November 2, 2005, emphasized the urgent need 
for DDMAC to reconsider its apparent policy of always requesting corrective messaging in 
warning letters.  Although WLF has repeatedly presented our views to DDMAC on the 
inappropriateness of invoking this extra-statutory remedy, we have received no response from 
you and have seen no lull in the issuance of warning letters invoking it.  We again request that 
you address our concerns in writing and undertake a systematic review of your use of this 
remedy to ensure it does not exceed your authority and sufficiently respects the First Amendment 
rights of sponsors and their audiences. 
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Conclusion and Requested Action 
 
For the reasons discussed above, we request that DDMAC immediately withdraw the warning 
letter to Alcon and cease the issuance of warning and untitled letters and advisory 
correspondence that contains allegations the same as or similar to those described above.  We 
request that you review, in a systematic fashion, all of your policies and procedures to ensure that 
they provide sufficient room for sponsors to disseminate, and health care practitioners and 
patients to receive, truthful and non-misleading information about prescription drugs.  We 
request, further, that you respond to the numerous legal and policy issues we have raised in our 
correspondence with you since last year. 
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  It is 
DDMAC’s responsibility to ensure that its actions comply with the First Amendment, and do not 
exceed FDA’s statutory authority. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 
 

 cc: Sheldon Bradshaw (GCF-1) 
 
 
 


